#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-650

### FROM THE ELEVENTH COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO.:10-13183-D

### MERLY NUÑEZ,

APPELLANT,

VS.

### GEICO GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

APPELLEE.

### ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

LIDSKY & MONTES, ATTORNEYS AT LAW, P.A. 145 EAST 49TH STREET HIALEAH, FLORIDA 33013 (305) 822-2100 (305) 818-9101 [FAX]

JUAN C. MONTES, ESQ. FLORIDA BAR NO. 031313

### **

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from an April 3, 2012 opinion from the United States Court of Appeals Eleventh Circuit which certified a question of Florida law to the Florida Supreme Court. The action was initially filed in state court on October 26, 2009 and removed by GEICO on December 4, 2009 to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (R. 1). On April 13, 2010, the District Court entered a *Final Order of Dismissal* with prejudice (R. 5) on NUNEZ's *Class Action Complaint*. (R. 2). NUNEZ appealed the District Court's ruling to the United States Court of Appeals Eleventh Circuit. (R. 9).

The Appellant is Merly Nunez (hereinafter "Appellant" or "NUNEZ") who, individually and on behalf of the others similarly situated, filed a class action against GEICO GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY (hereinafter "Appellee" or "GEICO"). NUNEZ sought a determination from the court that GEICO's insurance policy and Florida Statute §627.736 does not permit GEICO to condition payment of statutory Personal Injury Protection (P.I.P.) benefits/coverage on attendance at an EUO and that a failure to attend a unilaterally set EUO, is an insufficient basis to deny P.I.P. benefits under the policy of insurance and/or Florida law. (See Complaint at R. 2).

In response, GEICO moved to dismiss Appellant's *Complaint* on January 7, 2010, alleging that its policy language and Florida law permitted it to require that NUNEZ attend an EUO in order to receive P.I.P. benefits. (R. 3).

NUNEZ filed her Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Memorandum of Law on February 15, 2010 (R. 4), maintaining that the P.I.P. statute and Florida cases interpreting same do not allow the imposition of conditions on coverage not permitted under the P.I.P. statutory scheme. (R. 4). On April 13, 2010, the Final Order of Dismissal was entered. (R. 5). NUNEZ then filed her Motion for Reconsideration of the Final Order of Dismissal With Prejudice and Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint and To Remand Case to State Court. (R. 6). The Reconsideration Motion (R. 6) asserted that a dismissal with prejudice should not be entered because, at the very least, the insurer would have the burden to prove there was an unreasonable refusal by NUNEZ to attend the EUO and that correspondence between NUNEZ and GEICO, after the EUO was demanded, would demonstrate otherwise. (R. 6). NUNEZ further filed a proposed Amended Complaint attaching said correspondence as Exhibits. (R. 7). NUNEZ also cited to section 627.418(1), Fla. Stat., and Diaz-Hernandez v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Ins. Co., 19 So.3d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) for further support of her position that a policy provision cannot lawfully restrict the rights of an insured beyond those provided by statute. (R. 7). The

Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration was issued on June 14, 2010. (R. 8). On July 2, 2010, NUNEZ appealed from the Final Order of Dismissal with prejudice to the United States Court of Appeals Eleventh Circuit. (R. 9). On April 3, 2012, the United States Court of Appeals Eleventh Circuit issued an opinion certifying the following question to this Honorable Court:

Whether, under FLA. STAT. § 627.736, an insurer can require an insured to attend an EUO as a condition precedent to recovery of PIP benefits?

(R. 10).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The certified question:

Whether, under FLA. STAT. § 627.736, an insurer can require an insured to attend an EUO as a condition precedent to recovery of PIP benefits?

should be answered in the negative for several reasons. First, the plain language of Fla. Stat. § 627.736, clearly does not provide for an EUO, as one of the permissible conditions to receiving P.I.P. benefits. "It is an established principle that where the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla.1984).

Second, Fla. Stat. § 627.736 specifically defines all the permissible conditions an insurer may require. Glaringly absent in the statute is any EUO condition. The legislature created various conditions for payment that an insurer may require including a statutory condition to permit a P.I.P. insurer to require an independent medical examination ("IME")--a condition somewhat analogous to an EUO. *See* §627.736(7)(b). The legislature could have included an EUO provision if it desired. Further, it is an axiomatic rule of statutory construction in Florida, that where a statute mentions one thing, it necessarily implies the exclusion of another. This principle has been held applicable to the Florida Insurance Code and

more specifically to P.I.P. See Indus. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Kwechin, 447 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1983).

Third, this Honorable Court's analysis of the EUO requirement in *Custer* Medical Center v. United Automobile Insurance Company, 62 So.3d 1086 (Fla. 2010), reiterates long-standing precedent which prohibits the imposition of nonstatutory conditions on statutorily mandated coverage, such as UM and PIP. See also Flores v. Allstate Ins. Co., 819 So.2d 740, 745 (Fla. 2002) (noting that courts have an obligation to invalidate exclusions on coverage that are inconsistent with the purpose of the statute that mandates the coverage); Salas v. Liberty Mut. Fire. Ins. Co., 272 So. 2d 1, 5 (Fla. 1972) (recognizing that insurance coverage that is a creature of statute is not susceptible to the attempts of the insurer to limit or negate the protection afforded by the law); Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 252 So. 2d 229, 232-34 (Fla. 1971) (stating that automobile liability insurance and uninsured motorist coverage obtained to comply with or conform to the law cannot be narrowed by the insurer through exclusions and exceptions contrary to the law). The EUO analysis in *Custer* opinion is also consistent with various long-standing Florida district court decisions rejecting insurers' constant attempts to alter, limit or eliminate its obligation to pay P.I.P claims.

Further, although insurance companies have heavily relied on *Goldman v*. *State Farm General Ins. Co.*, 660 So.2d 300 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), in support of insurers being permitted to imposed EUO conditions on coverage, the case was clearly distinguished in *Custer* as not having involved a statutory-created coverage and therefore, inapplicable in the PIP context here. Lastly, the addition of an EUO condition in the new version of the PIP statute during the 2012 legislative session is a clear indication that an EUO provision was never a condition of any prior versions of the statute. Hence, the certified question should be answered in the negative.

### **ARGUMENT**

NUNEZ submits that the certified question:

Whether, under FLA. STAT. § 627.736, an insurer can require an insured to attend an EUO as a condition precedent to recovery of PIP benefits?

should be answered in the negative based on the plain language of Florida Statute §627.736, this Court's analysis in *Custer Medical Center v. United Automobile Insurance Company*, 62 So.3d 1086 (Fla. 2010), and consistent and long-standing precedent from this Honorable Court.

# I. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF §627.736, FLA. STAT. (THE P.I.P STATUTE), REQUIRES THE CERTIFIED QUESTION TO BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE

In interpreting a statute, Florida law applies the plain meaning rule. "It is an established principle that where the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla.1984); *See also State v. Dugan*, 685 So.2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 1996) ("When interpreting a statute, courts must determine legislative intent from the plain meaning of the statute."). "As with the interpretation of any statute, the starting point of analysis is the actual language of the statute." *Cont'l Cas. Co. v. Ryan Inc. E.*, 974 So.2d 368, 374 (Fla. 2008); *Freeman v. First Union National Bank*, 865 So.2d 1272, 1276 (Fla. 2004),

citing *Joshua v. City of Gainesville*, 768 So.2d 432, 435 (Fla. 2000). "When a statute is clear and unambiguous, courts will not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent." *Lee Cnty. Electric Coop., Inc. v. Jacobs*, 820 So.2d 297, 303 (Fla. 2002).

Indeed, in construing Florida's No-Fault Law, this Honorable Court has declared "[w]here the wording of the [No-Fault] Law is clear and amenable to a logical and reasonable interpretation, a court is without power to diverge from the intent of the Legislature as expressed in the plain language...." *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hospital, Inc.*, 961 So.2d 328, 334 (Fla. 2007). Courts are "without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power." *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984).

#### II. AN EUO IS NOT A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO P.I.P BENEFITS

A. SECTION 627.736, FLA. STAT., DOES NOT CONTAIN ANY EUO REQUIREMENT AMONG THE STATUTORILY PERMISSIBLE CONDITIONS TO RECEIVING P.I.P BENEFITS

GEICO cannot dispute that §627.736, Fla. Stat., does not contain any language which makes an EUO a condition to the recovery of P.I.P. benefits.

GEICO will undoubtedly argue that an EUO is not specifically prohibited in the P.I.P statute; however, Florida courts have routinely struck insurer-imposed conditions to P.I.P. not provided for in the statute, irrespective of whether or not the condition is specifically prohibited. To infer that a condition is impliedly permitted is contrary to proper statutory interpretation. In Florida, it is an axiomatic rule of statutory construction that where a statute mentions one thing, it necessarily implies the exclusion of another. This principle has been held applicable to the Florida Insurance Code and more specifically to P.I.P. *See Indus. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Kwechin*, 447 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1983). Hence, the statute's silence as to an examination under oath while specifically delineating other forms of permissible discovery—must be construed to exclude the examination under oath as a condition precedent to receiving P.I.P benefits pursuant to §627.736.

## B. SECTION 627.736, FLA. STAT., DEFINES THE PERMISSIBLE CONDITIONS TO RECOVER P.I.P BENEFITS, NOT ALL POTENTIALLY IMPERMISSIBLE ONES

The P.I.P. statute, specifically §627.736, sets forth various conditions for payment that an insurer may require. In subsection (5)(b), it sets forth certain circumstances under which an insurer may deny payment. Glaringly absent in the statute is any EUO condition. The concept of an EUO cannot be so foreign or remote that the Florida Legislature could not have included such requirement in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See for example  $\S627.736(4)(a)$ ;  $\S(6)(a)$ ;  $\S(6)(b)$ ;  $\S(6)(c)$ ;  $\S(7)(a)$ ; and  $\S(7)(b)$ .

statute if it so desired. Certainly, the legislature was able to create a statutory condition to permit a P.I.P. insurer to require an independent medical examination ("IME")--a condition somewhat analogous to an EUO. *See* §627.736(7)(b). In fact, the legislature was also able to include a provision permitting an insurer to deny further benefits if the insured unreasonably refused to submit to an IME. *See* §627.736(7)(b).

# III. THIS COURT'S RECENT ANALYSIS OF THE EUO ISSUE IN CUSTER REITERATED LONG-STANDING LEGAL PRECEDENT WHICH PROHIBIT NON-STATUTORY CONDITIONS BEING IMPOSED BY INSURERS ON STATUTORILY-CREATED COVERAGES

Although an EUO is the triggering condition in this case, the broader underlying legal issue is whether an insurer can impose a condition, on **statutorily**-imposed coverage, not contained in the statute. This question was decided by this Honorable Court long before its analysis in *Custer*, which was a reiteration of the long-standing legal precedent regarding the treatment of P.I.P and other statutory imposed coverages, and was not a change of any existing legal principles. Moreover, every time insurers have attempted to limit or negate the protection of statutory imposed coverages, this Honorable Court has invalidated exclusions on coverage that are contradictory with the purpose of the statute that imposes the coverage.

In *Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), this Court stated that automobile liability insurance and uninsured motorist coverage obtained to comply with or conform to the law cannot be narrowed by the insurer through exclusions and exceptions contrary to the law. In *Mullis*, the insured's son was injured while operating a motorcycle, which was not covered by the policy issued by the insurance company. *Id.* at 231. Said policy included a provision which excluded uninsured motorist coverage for bodily injury to an insured, including a resident of insured's household, if such vehicle was not an insured automobile. *Id.* at 231-232. The insurance company argued that since the motorcycle was not covered by any of the insurance policies issued to the insured, the son was not covered for uninsured motorist benefits. *Id.* This Court declared:

The public policy of the uninsured motorist statute [now § 627.727(1)] is to provide uniform and specific insurance benefits to members of the public to cover damages for bodily injury caused by the negligence of insolvent or uninsured motorists and such *statutorily fixed* and prescribed protection is not reducible by insurers' policy exclusions and exceptions any more than are the benefits provided for persons protected by automobile liability insurance secured in compliance with the Financial Responsibility Law.

Insurers or carriers writing automobile liability insurance and reciprocal uninsured motorist insurance are not permitted *by law* to insert provisions in the policies they issue that exclude or reduce the liability coverage prescribed *by law* for the class of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of motor vehicles because of bodily injury.

Mullis, 252 So. 2d at 233-34. This Court went on to hold that the insurance policy

exclusion was contrary to the uninsured motorist statute and that insurance and uninsured motorist coverage obtained to comply with the law cannot be narrowed by an insurer through exclusions/exceptions contrary to the law. *Mullis*, 252 So. 2d at 237-238.

In *Salas v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins.* Co., 272 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972), this Court held that an automobile policy provision, excluding uninsured motorist coverage, to the insured, attempted to narrow or limit uninsured motorist coverage contrary to the purpose and intent of the uninsured motorist statute. In *Salas*, the insured's minor daughter made a claim for uninsured motorist coverage after being involved in an automobile accident. *Id.* at 2. The insurer alleged that it was not liable under the uninsured motorist provision of its policy because of its "family household" exclusion which excluded uninsured motorist to the insured while occupying a vehicle other than the insured automobile owned by insured or any other person in same household. *Id.* at 2-3. This Court stated that the intent of the legislature in creating the uninsured motorist statute was to provide for the broad protection to insureds against uninsured motorists. *Id.* at 5. The Court further stated that:

[T]he intention of the Legislature, as mirrored by the decisions of this Court, is plain to provide for the broad protection of the citizens of this State against uninsured motorists. As a creature of statute rather than a matter for contemplation of the parties in creating insurance policies, the uninsured motorist protection is not susceptible to the attempts of the insurer to limit or negate that protection.

Salas, 272 So.2d 1 at 5 (emphasis supplied).

In *Flores v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 819 So.2d 740 (Fla. 2002), an insured filed an action to recover P.I.P benefits and uninsured motorist benefits. The insurer claimed that the insured had committed fraud when making his P.I.P. claim, and according to the general policy conditions in its policy which permitted the insurer to deny coverage based on fraud and material misrepresentation, uninsured motorist coverage was voided. This Honorable Court held that the general policy conditions did not permit the insurer to deny uninsured motorist coverage for an unrelated fraud. This Honorable Court also noted that "courts have an obligation to invalidate exclusions on coverage that are inconsistent with the purpose of the statute that mandates the coverage." *Id.* at 745.

The use of exclusionary language or a direct attempt of the insurer to limit or create exemptions from the statutory mandate is not recognized. *Salas*, 272 So. 2d at 5; *See also Diaz-Hernandez v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 19 So. 3d 996, 1000 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) (concluding that a provision in a policy was invalid because it was against the public policy of the statute); *Vasques v. Mercury Cas. Co.*, 947 So. 2d 1265, 1269 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007) (stating that restrictions on statutorily mandated coverage must be carefully examined because exclusions that are inconsistent with the purpose of the statute are invalid) (citing *Flores*, 819 So. 2d at 745).

Like UM coverage, PIP is statutorily created and also enjoys protection from insurer-imposed restrictions. In fact, the protections afforded PIP coverage must be greater because, unlike UM, PIP coverage is made mandatory. Moreover, the enactment of the PIP statute was a legislative trade-off to assure for the swift and virtually automatic payment of medical expenses in exchange for certain torts rights taken from Floridians in the statute. Hence, insurer-imposed restrictions must be more closely scrutinize to safeguard the constitutionality of the PIP statute.

This Honorable Court's decisions have been consistent in their rejection of insurer-placed restrictions on statutorily-mandated coverage. Hence, the true issue has been long-settled in Florida and was just more specifically addressed in *Custer*.

# IV. THIS COURTS EUO ANALYSIS IN CUSTER IS ALSO CONSISTENT WITH FLORIDA DISTRICT COURTS' REPEATED REJECTION OF ATTEMPTS BY INSURERS TO ALTER, LIMIT, OR ELIMINATE THEIR OBLIGATION TO PAY P.I.P CLAIMS

In addition to the cited precedent from this Honorable Court, the *Custer* decision is also consistent with long-standing Florida district court decisions rejecting insurers' constant attempts to alter, limit or eliminate its obligation to pay P.I.P claims. Ever since PIP was created, insurers have searched for ways to carve out exceptions and limitations to their obligations, and the Courts have rejected such attempts. *See Crooks v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 659 So. 2d 1266 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), *rev. dism.*, 662 So.2d 933 (Fla. 1995) (insurer's attempt to

relieve itself of liability to pay P.I.P. benefits by requiring insured to submit the bills on a particular claim form rejected); Kaklamanos v. Allstate Ins. Co., 796 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)(insurer's attempt to rely on an indemnification provision it added to the P.I.P. policy to assert that the insured could not sue it for non-payment of a P.I.P. unless the insured had either paid the bills or been sued by the medical provider rejected); Amador v. United Auto. Ins. Co., 748 So.2d 307 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (insurer's attempt to toll the 30-day period to pay claims by requesting EUOs more than thirty days after it received notice of the insureds' P.I.P. claims was rejected); Ortega v. United Auto. Ins. Co., 847 So.2d 994 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003)(insurer's attempt to deny payment for P.I.P. medical bills because a copy of the license for the medical provider did not accompany the claim was rejected). Martinez v. Fortune Ins. Co., 684 So.2d 201 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)(insurer's attempt to toll the payment of P.I.P. claim asserting it has not received medical verification, vis-à-vis, a disability report from the insured physician was rejected); Fortune Ins. Co. v. Pacheco, 695 So.2d 394 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)(insurer's attempt to toll its payment obligation by requiring the insured provide it with all supporting medical records before the 30-day period for payment began to run was rejected); Palmer v. Fortune Ins. Co., 776 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001)(insurer's attempt to delay claim by trying to shift its statutory

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