IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

2.4

v 1

CASE NO. SC12-650

MERLY NUÑEZ a/k/a NUNEZ MERLY,

Appellant,

v.

GEICO GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

On Review of a Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

Frank A. Zacherl Suzanne Youmans Labrit Jerel C. Dawson Shutts & Bowen LLP *Counsel for Appellee* 4301 Boy Scout Blvd., Ste. 300 Tampa, Florida 33607 Telephone: (813) 227-8113 Facsimile: (813) 227-8213

-and-

1500 Miami Center
201 South Biscayne Blvd
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 379-9121
Facsimile: (305) 415-9841

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. Indeed,

the question already has been answered, definitively and in the affirmative, by the

¹ It is perhaps more accurate to say that Nuñez abandoned other grounds for appeal. *See* Nuñez's November 12, 2010 Initial Brief at vii and GEICO's February 3, 2011 Answer Brief at 1.

legislature, which in 2012, amended the No-Fault Law to specifically require insureds to comply with policy conditions, including EUOs, as a condition precedent to receiving benefits. Ch. 2012-197, § 10, at 29, Laws of Fla. Under this Court's precedent, when a statutory amendment follows soon after controversy regarding the meaning of the statute, the amendment is properly viewed as a legislative interpretation of the pre-amendment statute. The amendment does not change the substance of the law, but instead provides needed clarification of the

v Fr

law's original meaning as intended by the legislature. That is precisely what has occurred here.

As the Eleventh Circuit's Opinion indicates, the certified question was occasioned by dicta in *Custer Med. Ctr. v. United Auto. Ins. Co.*, 62 So. 3d 1086 (Fla. 2010), which gave rise to controversy regarding whether an EUO is a permissible condition precedent to recovery of benefits under the PIP statute. Prior to 2012, the PIP statute (including the version applicable here)² was silent regarding EUOs. After *Custer* was rendered in November 2010, the legislature amended the No-Fault Law to require insureds to comply with all policy terms --

specifically including those requiring an EUO -- as a condition precedent to

² The statute in effect at the time the policy was issued governs. *Menendez v. Progressive Exp. Ins. Co.*, 35 So. 3d 873, 876 (Fla. 2010). Nuñez's policy was issued May 23, 2008 (R.E. 2, Ex. A), so Fla. Stats. §§ 627.730-627.405 (2008) (the "PIP statute" or the "No-Fault Law") applies.

receiving benefits. Ch. 2012-197, § 10, at 29, Laws of Fla. The legislature, which

was presumptively aware of *Custer* when it enacted the amendment, thus made its

view of the matter clear, and the legislature's expression of its own intent in this

manner is entitled to substantial weight.

чэ ¹ т

Custer should not be read to suggest that the pre-amendment PIP statute

prohibited EUOs. The EUO provision in *Custer* purported to require the insured to

appear without counsel, an undisputedly impermissible requirement that is not at

issue here. But, to the extent *Custer* construes the PIP statute as prohibiting EUOs,

the legislature has unambiguously expressed its disagreement with such a construction by specifically including EUOs among policy terms with which an insured must comply as a condition precedent to receiving PIP benefits. In so doing, the legislature confirmed its longstanding agreement with a century of Florida case law approving the use of EUOs in a variety of insurance contexts, including PIP.

According to Nuñez, the PIP statute's pre-2012 silence regarding EUOs

means that EUOs were prohibited until the amendment. But she misapprehends

the amendment, which clarified rather than changed existing law. Moreover,

before the amendment the law was well settled (and remains so) that PIP policies

may contain exclusions and conditions not specifically mentioned in the statute, so

3

long as the exclusions and conditions are not contrary to the statute's purposes.

EUOs are entirely consistent with the PIP statute's purposes of preventing fraud and allowing for reasonable investigation of claims, while ensuring that legitimate claims are paid promptly. Therefore, an EUO is a valid condition precedent to recovery of PIP benefits, both before and after the amendment. This is further confirmed by decisions from other states, in which courts have deemed EUOs to be appropriate and valid in the context of PIP statutes that do not expressly permit EUOs.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

· · · · · · ·

"The determination of the meaning of a statute is a question of law and thus

is subject to de novo review." Osborne v. Dumoulin, 55 So. 3d 577, 581 (Fla.

2011) (reviewing question certified by Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals

regarding interpretation of Fla. Stat. § 222.25(4)).

II. THE LEGISLATURE HAS ANSWERED THE CERTIFIED QUESTION AFFIRMATIVELY, AGREEING WITH A CENTURY OF CASE LAW REGARDING EUOS.

An EUO is a simple procedure whereby an insured gives information under

oath concerning the claimed loss. Its purpose, as the United States Supreme Court

recognized long ago, is to enable insurers to gather "all knowledge, and all

information as to other sources and means of knowledge, in regard to the facts,

material to their rights, to enable them to decide upon their obligations, and to

protect them against false claims." Claflin v. Commonwealth Ins. Co., 110 U.S. 81, 94-95, 3 S.Ct. 507, 515 (1884).

Ť Ŧ

¥ 7

Prior to 2012, the PIP statute was silent regarding EUOs. But requiring EUOs as a condition precedent to recovery of benefits is something that "insurance companies have done in this state for over a century." *Shaw v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 37 So. 3d 329, 337 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010) (Sawaya, J., dissenting). This established practice has met with longstanding judicial approval, from the

beginning of the twentieth century to the end and later. *E.g., Southern Home Ins. Co. v. Putnal,* 49 So. 922, 932-33 (Fla. 1909) (holding that EUO requirement in fire insurance policy was "binding and valid"); *Goldman v. State Farm Fire Gen. Ins. Co.,* 660 So. 2d 300, 303 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), *rev. den.,* 670 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1996) ("An insured's refusal to comply with a demand for an examination under oath is a willful and material breach of... [a property] insurance contract which precludes the insured from recovery under the policy."); *Edwards v. State Farm Fla. Ins. Co.,* 64 So. 3d 730, 732 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011) (same).

Florida courts also have recognized the validity of EUOs in the specific

context of PIP benefits. See, e.g., Shaw, 37 So. 3d at 331, 333 ("[i]t is undisputed

that a provision in an insurance policy that requires the insured to submit to an

EUO qualifies as a condition precedent to recovery of policy benefits"; holding

that assignee of PIP benefits had no duty to attend EUO, but recognizing that

assignee would have no claim for benefits if **insured** refused EUO); *Marlin Diagnostics v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co.*, 897 So. 2d 469, 470 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) (same); *Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Drummond*, 970 So. 2d 456, 460 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) ("submission to "EUOs was a condition precedent to [insurer's] duty to provide coverage" for med pay benefits); United Automobile Ins. Co. v. STAT Technologies, Inc., 787 So. 2d 920, 922 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), *rev. den.*, 817 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 2002) (EUO recognized as means for insurer to verify if loss was

• • • •

payable or "barred because of fraud or some other policy exclusion, and to determine whether the services provided and the amount of the bill were reasonable, related or necessary"); *January v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 838 So. 2d 604, 606, 608 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) (noting insured's argument that PIP statute "did not contemplate" EUOS and declining to "gainsay trial court's conclusion" that insured's refusal to attend EUO was a breach of policy condition barring recovery; remanding for factual determinations regarding timing of request for EUO and insured's refusal thereof); *see also Hungerman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 11 So. 3d 1012, 1013 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009) (rejecting insured's contention that EUO

was "unauthorized" and affirming declaratory judgment in favor of insurer that

required EUO in connection with potential uninsured motorist claim).³

³ Like the pre-amendment PIP statute, the uninsured motorist ("UM") statute is silent as to EUOs.

When the legislature enacted the PIP statute in 1971 and amended it many times thereafter, it was presumptively aware of the widespread use and judicial approval of EUOs. *Williams v. Jones*, 326 So. 2d 425, 435 (Fla. 1976), *dism'd*, 429 U.S. 803 (1976) (recognizing the "principle of statutory construction which provides that the Legislature is presumed to know the existing law when it enacts a statute and is also presumed to be acquainted with the judicial construction of former laws on the subject concerning which a later statute is enacted"). At no

• • • • • •

time did the legislature act to prohibit EUOs in the PIP context or otherwise, thus indicating its agreement with their use. *See Regional MRI of Orlando, Inc. v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 884 So. 2d 1102, 1110 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (holding that "global billing" for MRI services was not prohibited under No-Fault Law, where legislature was aware of industry practice of global billing and did not act to prohibit practice despite multiple amendments to PIP statute during relevant period); *Martinez v. Fortune Ins. Co.*, 684 So. 2d 201, 203 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), *rev. den.*, 695 So. 2d 699 (Fla. 1997) (legislature's non-amendment of payment timing provision in subsection 4(b), despite multiple amendments to other sections

of PIP statute, constituted legislature's "implied adoption" of judicial construction

of subsection 4(b) and "is the most persuasive evidence of what the legislature

intended"); Zommer v. State, 31 So. 3d 733, 754 (Fla. 2010), 131 S.Ct. 192 (2010)

(construing legislative inaction as agreement with judicial construction of statute).

Far from acting to prohibit EUOs, the legislature in 2012 amended the PIP statute -- which previously made no mention of EUOs -- to expressly state that insureds "must comply with the terms of the policy, which include, but are not limited to, **submitting to an examination under oath...as a condition precedent to receiving benefits**." Ch. 2012-197, § 10, at 29, Laws of Fla. (emphasis added). According to Nuñez, this amendment means that EUOs previously were prohibited because they are "now, for the first time, being added to the statute." In. Br. at 18.

· · · · ·

Nuñez, who cites no authority for this interpretation, wholly misapprehends the

amendment's significance. In reality, the amendment confirmed and codified the

longstanding, well-settled permissibility and propriety of EUOs as a condition precedent to recovery of PIP benefits.

As the Eleventh Circuit noted in certifying the instant question to this Court,

the permissibility of EUOs under the PIP statute has been a matter of controversy

since this Court rendered Custer -- which contained dicta about a particular EUO

provision -- in November 2010. Opinion, pp. 7, 9-12. Where, as here, a statutory

amendment is enacted "soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the

original act arise," the amendment may be viewed as a "legislative interpretation

of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof." Lowry v. Parole and

Probation Comm'n, 473 So. 2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1985) (emphasis added). Such

amendments, which serve to "clarify rather than change existing law," are entitled

to "substantial weight in construing the earlier law." *Matthews v. State*, 760 So. 2d 1148, 1150 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); *see also Ivey v. Chicago Ins. Co.*, 410 So. 2d 494, 497 (Fla. 1982) ("The court has the right and the duty, in arriving at the correct meaning of a prior statute, to consider subsequent legislation.") Under this Court's precedent, the legislature is "presumed to know the judicial constructions of a law when amending that law." *Zommer*, 31 So. 3d at 754. The legislature was thus presumptively aware of *Custer* when it enacted the

, e i ș

2012 amendment, which is properly construed as a confirmation that EUOs were indeed permissible under the PIP statute prior to the amendment. Under such circumstances, the amendment should be viewed as clarifying the original legislative intent. *See Vasques v. Mercury Cas. Co.*, 947 So. 2d 1265, 1269-70 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007) (holding that court's interpretation of PIP statute in effect prior to an amendment was "validated" by the amendment). When the legislature amends a statute, it is "presumed to have adopted prior judicial constructions of [the] law unless a contrary intention is expressed in the new version." *Essex Ins. Co. v. Zota*, 985 So. 2d 1036, 1043 (Fla. 2008). Here, the

legislature's intention was expressed with clarity by the 2012 amendment: the

legislature agreed with the established body of law ratifying the use of EUOs, and

it disagreed with any suggestion in Custer that EUOs might not be allowed in the

PIP context. See G.E.L. Corp. v. Dept. of Environmental Protection, 875 So. 2d

1257, 1262-63 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (holding that statutory amendment following administrative decisions "clearly indicates that the Legislature did not agree with those interpretations and sought to clarify the meaning of the statute through the newly enacted provision"); *see also Millennium Diagnostic Imaging Ctr., Inc. v. Sec. Nat. Ins. Co.*, 882 So. 2d 1027, 1029-30 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) ("Given the cavalcade of litigation regarding this issue, we believe that the amendment was enacted as a clarification of the legislature's intent....")⁴. The 2012 amendment,

following so soon after Custer, should therefore be taken as a definitive legislative

answer to the certified question.

. . . .

III. *CUSTER* **SHOULD NOT BE READ TO PROHIBIT EUOS**.

Given this Court's characterization of EUOs as "not relevant"⁵ to the appeal in *Custer*, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the "statements regarding EUOs in *Custer* are *dicta* and not binding." Opinion, pp. 5-6, 9. Even if the Eleventh Circuit's conclusion is deemed inaccurate, the reference in *Custer* to a "purported verbal examination under oath without counsel" has little, if any, bearing here since the certified question does not involve such a condition, and the EUO

⁴ As in *Millennium*, "the intention to clarify is further illustrated by the legislative staff analyses to the amendment." *Id.* at 1030. Here, the staff analyses to the 2012 amendment specifically discuss *Custer*. *See*, *e.g.*, House of Representatives Final Bill Analysis (May 7, 2012), CS/CS/HB 119, at 5.

10

⁵ 62 So. 3d at 1089, n.1.

Custer should not be read to prohibit EUOs in the pre-amendment PIP context because (a) EUOs were not at issue in *Custer* and (b) this Court's discussion of EUOs in *Custer* was limited to a particular EUO condition that purported to exclude the insured's counsel, undisputedly an impermissible requirement. *Custer* arose out of an insurer's denial of PIP benefits based on the insured's failure to attend an independent medical examination ("IME").⁶ This Court's analysis focused on the standard for second-tier certiorari and

.

considerations specific to IMEs. The validity of EUOs under the PIP statute was never at issue.

It appears that the principal reason this Court discussed EUOs was the Third

District's erroneous description of a letter as relating to an IME, when, in fact, the

letter referenced an EUO which prohibited the presence of the insured's counsel:

Although the district court of appeal mentions a letter of September 9, 2002, that letter is related to a purported

claimant "unreasonably refuses" to submit to an IME, the PIP carrier is "no longer liable for subsequent benefits." Id. EUOs enable insurers to determine whether a claim is reasonable, related or necessary for purposes of paying -- or denying -benefits under Fla. Stat. § 627.736(4)(b). *See Partners in Health Chiropractic v. United Automobile Ins. Co.*, 21 So. 3d 858, 860-861 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). An IME report may constitute "reasonable proof" supporting denial of benefits under § 627.736(4)(b), but such a report "is not necessary to deny a claim" under subsection (4)(b), which "requires only "reasonable proof" that a claim is not reasonable, related or necessary." *Partners in Health*, 21 So. 3d at 863.

⁶ IMEs and EUOs are functionally distinct in the PIP context. Fla. Stat. § 627.736(7)(a) specifies the requirements for an IME where a PIP insurer withdraws payments to a treating physician; subsection (b) provides that if a

verbal examination under oath with a prohibition of the presence of counsel for the insured, not a medical exam. **The concept of a verbal examination under oath is not relevant due to the posture of this case and positions of the parties.** The only argument in this case at the trial court, circuit court and district court of appeal was based upon medical exams and the failure to attend medical exams. A purported verbal exam under oath <u>without</u> <u>counsel</u> in the PIP context is invalid and more restrictive than permitted by the statutorily mandated coverage and the terms and limitations permitted under the statutory provisions.

Custer, 62 So. 3d at 1089, n.1 (emphasis added).⁷

For these reasons, Custer should not be read to prohibit EUOs in the PIP

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